THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
George C. James, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001554
Common Pleas Case No. 2010-CP-28-1197

RECEIVED
APR 06 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

U.S. Bank National Association Successor trustee to LaSalle Bank National Association, as trustee under the Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2002, among Asset Backed Funding Corporation, Litton Loan Servicing LP and LaSalle Bank National Association, ABFC Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2002-SB-1,.....Respondent,

v.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent, U.S. Bank National Association as successor trustee to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Trustee under the Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2002, among Asset Backed Funding Corporation, Litton Loan Servicing LP and LaSalle Bank National Association, ABFC Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2002-SB1 (hereinafter "U.S. Bank"), sued the Petitioner, Kelley Burr (hereinafter "Burr"), filing a summons and complaint seeking foreclosure of a mortgage on November 1, 2010. (Appx. pp. 102-08.) Burr answered and counterclaimed through her then-counsel, David P. Reuwer, Esquire. (Appx. pp. 109-16.) Burr's defenses and counterclaims centered on common factual allegations that "Burr and her husband provided [U.S. Bank] and/or its successor trustee with detailed information and documentation upon request of [U.S. Bank,]" that U.S. Bank's authorized agents and employees "stated and represented to [Burr] that she would be taken care of not losing her residential home so long as she participated in the Home Affordable Modification Program [(hereinafter 'HAMP'),]" that Burr "did cooperate and agree to participate in [HAMP,]" and that U.S. Bank "did not conduct a fair, reasonable, comprehensive analysis nor reconsideration of her home mortgage payment amount problem, and that the Plaintiff never intended to actually do so." (Appx. pp. 110-11.) Burr pled defenses and counterclaims labeled as "unclean hands," "breach of contract," "fraud and misrepresentation in the inducement," "unfair trade practices," "in pari delicto," and "residential home." (Appx. pp. 111-14.) Burr alleged U.S. Bank "breached the terms of the contract [evidenced by the note and mortgage] and its duty to service the agreement in good faith" and that U.S. Bank "stated and

represented over time and telephone calls and correspondence that it would reconsider and help [Burr] into an affordable loan modification, such that she would not lose her residential home.” (Appx. pp. 112, 113.) U.S. Bank pled numerous defenses to Burr’s counterclaims. (Appx. pp. 117-24.) Those defenses did not include mootness. (Appx. pp. 117-24.)

On May 2, 2011, Chief Justice Jean H. Toal of the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued In re: Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. 209, 720 S.E.2d 908 (2011) (South Carolina Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01) (hereinafter “the Administrative Order”), which sets out a framework for notifying mortgagor defendants in actions seeking mortgage foreclosure of owner-occupied dwellings of those defendants’ right to foreclosure intervention. Id. at 211-14. The Administrative Order also sets forth a process for the conclusion of foreclosure intervention efforts, generally in one of three ways: 1) successful settlement of the claim for foreclosure through foreclosure intervention, 2) good-faith attempts to settle the foreclosure claim that do not succeed in resolving the foreclosure, despite the participation of both mortgagor and mortgagee in the foreclosure intervention process, and 3) failure of the mortgagor defendant to participate in the foreclosure intervention process, either through failure to respond to the notice of right to foreclosure intervention at all or through completion of the foreclosure intervention process in a way that does not result in resolution of the foreclosure because of the mortgagor’s failure to provide necessary information. Id. U.S. Bank served Burr’s then-counsel with a notice of right to foreclosure intervention on July 25, 2011. (Appx. pp. 172-77.) U.S. Bank’s counsel and Burr’s attorney at that time communicated about the notice,

and U.S. Bank re-sent the notice on August 9, 2011. (Appx. p. 178.) On October 26, 2011, U.S. Bank's counsel served a certification that Burr had "failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process[.]" stating that despite U.S. Bank extending the deadline for Burr to submit documents and records for evaluation in the foreclosure intervention process, "[n]o documents or records were ever received by [U.S. Bank's] counsel." (Appx. pp. 178-80.)

On April 17, 2012, U.S. Bank served the motion that is subject of this appeal, stating that Burr "has failed to prosecute and even has defeated her own counterclaims by not responding to [U.S. Bank's] efforts to offer her a loan modification proposal, in addition to not providing information to allow consideration of Burr for a modification. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 12(c), 12(f), and 41(b), S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure, U.S. Bank hereby moves to dismiss Burr's counterclaims and to strike her defenses." (Appx. pp. 126-42.) The motion asserted that Burr's defenses and counterclaims against U.S. Bank are "all based primarily on an alleged failure to 'conduct a fair, reasonable, comprehensive analysis' and 'reconsideration of her home mortgage amount problem[.]'" contended that Burr failed to prosecute her claims by failing to engage in the foreclosure intervention process, and contended that Burr's claims were moot because U.S. Bank had offered Burr a modification proposal on January 10, 2012, to which offer she never responded. (Appx. pp. 126, 129-30.) Attached to the motion were the certification of mortgagor noncompliance that U.S. Bank had already filed and printouts of email messages between U.S. Bank's attorney, that lawyer's paralegal, and Burr's then-counsel. (Appx. pp. 132-41.) No testimony, by affidavit or otherwise,

was served with or ever offered in support of the motion. (Appx. pp. 132-41, 146, p. 163 ln. 11-15, p. 165 ln. 23-24, p. 168 ln. 4-5.)

A hearing on U.S. Bank's motion was set for Thursday, September 13, 2012. (Appx. pp. 95, 150.) On the evening of September 10, 2012, Burr hired new counsel, the undersigned, who took over representation from Burr's previous attorney and filed a notice of appearance on the day of the motion hearing. (Appx. p. 153 ln. 4-12, p. 162 ln. 4-6, p. 181.)

U.S. Bank's counsel focused argument at the hearing on its contention that Burr had failed to prosecute her counterclaims by failing to respond to overtures to engage in foreclosure intervention. (Appx. p. 154 ln. 10 – p. 161 ln. 25, p. 167 ln. 9 – p. 168 ln. 3, p. 168 ln. 22 – p. 169 ln. 4.) U.S. Bank's counsel's only argument with regard to Rule 12(c), SCRPC, was that Burr's counterclaims were moot because U.S. Bank offered her a modification. (Appx. p. 159 ln. 1-5, p. 161 ln. 10-16.) U.S. Bank's counsel did not advance an argument at the hearing concerning Rule 12(f), SCRPC. (Appx. pp. 150-70.)

In response to U.S. Bank's argument, Burr's new counsel argued at the hearing that Burr's previous attorney's conduct in failing to "pay the attention to settlement negotiations that maybe ought to have been paid" did not amount to a failure to prosecute. (Appx. p. 162 ln. 6-11, 19-25, p. 163 ln. 1-9.) Burr's new counsel also argued that there was no factual material in the record tending to establish mootness of the counterclaims and that Burr's claim that U.S. Bank promised Burr a modification and then reneged on that promise before the lawsuit was commenced was not moot and would not be subject to a motion for judgment on the pleadings. (Appx. pp. 110-11, p.

165 ln. 21 – p. 166 ln. 7.) Burr’s counsel made an oral motion to amend the answer and counterclaim, stating, “I hadn’t really been in this case long enough to find out exactly what it is that I want to add, but I know I want it to read differently from the way it reads now.” (Appx. p. 166 ln. 8-16.)

The court announced at the hearing that it was “going to grant the motion to strike the counterclaims” and stated that, to make a motion to amend, Burr would need to make a written motion with a proposed amended pleading attached. (Appx. p. 169 ln. 15-25.) Upon inquiry from Burr’s counsel, the court noted that its ruling was “[n]ot prejudicial to your right to make a motion [to amend], but that doesn’t mean it’s going to be amended, and whoever hears that motion can perhaps look at my Order and determine whether or not your proposed amendments fall outside – or fall inside or outside what I’ve dismissed.” (Appx. p. 170 ln. 1-8.)

In an order filed October 1, 2012, the court granted U.S. Bank’s motion, ruling that “[b]ased on the arguments presented by counsel, the documents and evidence presented, and Rules 41(b) and Rules 12(c) and 12(f) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff’s Motion for to Dismiss Defendant Burr’s Counterclaims and to Strike Affirmative Defenses is hereby GRANTED.” (Appx. pp. 95, 98.) The court found that Burr engaged in a failure to prosecute and that the four factors relevant to whether to grant a dismissal for failure to prosecute in McComas v. Ross, 368 S.C. 59, 626 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2006), were met in this case. (Appx. pp. 96-97.) The court also ruled that “Burr’s claims are moot because they are based on an alleged scenario of her not being offered a loan modification” since U.S. Bank “offered Burr a

modification proposal on January 10, 2012, and no evidence shows that Burr responded to this offer until April.” (Appx. pp. 97-98.)

Burr made a timely motion to reconsider in which she noted the arguments her counsel made at the hearing and also pointed out that U.S. Bank “did not advance any arguments concerning [the standards applicable to motions under Rules 12(c) and 12(f)], and the Court’s order does not contain any analysis of whether these standards were met[,]” with Burr stating that “Rules 12(c) and 12(f), SCRCF, do not provide an appropriate basis for the Court’s decision.” (Appx. pp. 143-49.) The court denied this motion, without a hearing, in a one-sentence order filed October 16, 2012. (Appx. p. 99.) Burr appealed to the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of Burr’s counterclaims on the basis that they were moot. (Appx. p. 2.) The court found that a judgment in Burr’s favor “would have no practical effect on the controversy” because “Burr had been offered the primary relief that she sought, a negotiated loan modification[.]” (Appx. p. 2.) The Court of Appeals did not mention that Burr sought damages in her counterclaim.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the circuit court’s striking of Burr’s defenses, stating that “[a]s the trial court looked beyond the pleadings to the loan modification process, we review the court’s dismissal of Burr’s affirmative defenses as a grant of summary judgment.” (Appx. p. 2.) The opinion does not mention that U.S. Bank presented no affidavits, deposition testimony, or other factual material in support of its motion. (Appx. pp. 2-3.) The Court of Appeals went on, however, to state the factual conclusion that “Burr did not provide the documents requested by U.S. Bank,

which made U.S. Bank unable to complete the loan modification offered to Burr.” (Appx. p. 2.) The court summed up its impression of how the circuit court reached its decision in this case by stating that Burr’s “defenses and counterclaims were reviewed by the trial court, deemed insufficient, and dismissed.” (Appx. p. 2.)

Burr petitioned for rehearing, noting in her petition, among other things, that even U.S. Bank had agreed in its brief that its motion was not considered as one for summary judgment and that the first indication Burr had ever had that the motion might be treated as one for summary judgment was when the Court of Appeals issued its opinion. (Appx. pp. 5, 7.) The Court of Appeals requested that U.S. Bank submit a return to the petition, and U.S. Bank did so. (Appx. pp. 19-30.) The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. (Appx. p. 31.)

Burr petitioned to this Court for a writ of certiorari. The Court granted certiorari in this case on March 7, 2017.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b), SCRPC, an appellate court may reverse the trial court’s decision upon an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” In re: Care and Treatment of Miller, 393 S.C. 248, 256, 713 S.E.2d 253, 257 (2011).

Rule 12(c), SCRPC, provides for a judgment on the pleadings in a proper case. The standard of whether such a motion should be granted is the same as for a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, and the appellate court applies the same standard to the review of an order granting such a motion. See Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C.

86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1991); Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 350 (Ct. App. 2000); Fireman's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990).

Rule 12(f), SCRPC, provides that the Court “may order stricken from any pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent or scandalous matter.” A motion to strike that challenges a theory of recovery pled by the non-movant is in the nature of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. McCormick v. England, 328 S.C. 627, 494 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1997).

“A motion to dismiss a counterclaim must be based solely on the allegations set forth in the counterclaim. See Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC; Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999). ‘A Rule 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the [complainant] to any relief on any theory of the case.’ Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602-3 (1995). The question is whether in the light most favorable to the complainant, and with every doubt resolved on her behalf, the counterclaim states any valid claim for relief. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987). The counterclaim should not be dismissed merely because the trial court doubts the complainant will prevail in the action. Id.” Charleston County Sch. Dist v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc., 348 S.C. 420, 559 S.E.2d 362 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations in original). In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court may not consider matters outside the allegations of the pleadings. Falk, 341 S.C. at 281; Firemen's Ins. Co., 302 S.C. at 234.

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that “summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.” Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986). “All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct. App. 2004). “When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008).

ARGUMENT

Burr did not engage in any behavior that could reasonably be construed as a failure to prosecute. She apparently failed to provide U.S. Bank with the documents that it stated it needed to evaluate her for a loan modification, but that was, at most, a failure to engage in settlement negotiations. (Appx. p. 146, p. 162 ln. 6-11.) That is

not a failure to prosecute. (Appx. pp. 145-46, p. 162 ln. 10-11, p. 162 ln. 19 – p. 163 ln. 9, p. 164 ln. 15-21.)

What happened here is that Burr's previous attorney failed to do a good job (or much of a job at all) in participating in settlement negotiations with U.S. Bank. (Appx. pp. 126-41, 178-79, p. 154 ln. 25 – p. 160 ln. 5, p. 162 ln. 6-9.) U.S. Bank served and filed a certification of Burr's failure to participate in the foreclosure intervention process, which allowed the foreclosure action to proceed. (Appx. pp. 178-80); see In re: Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. at 212.

The circuit court simply decided that it was proper to dismiss Burr's counterclaims and strike her defenses because she failed to participate in foreclosure intervention, even though the Administrative Order provides that what is to happen in such circumstances is just for the foreclosure action to proceed. Id. The remedy under the operative administrative order for a mortgagor defendant's failure to participate in foreclosure intervention negotiation is not the dismissal of counterclaims or the striking of defenses. Id.

Because the Court of Appeals could not affirm on the basis that Burr had violated the Administrative Order (because she had not) and could not affirm on the basis that Burr failed to prosecute (because she did not), the Court of Appeals found other grounds on which to affirm the circuit court's ruling. The grounds the Court of Appeals chose for affirmance are just as flawed as those stated by the circuit court – and they do not even appear from the record. Burr has yet to have a court correctly apply the law to U.S. Bank's motion. She hopes this Court will do so.

I. Since Burr did not do anything that amounted to a failure to prosecute or to comply with an order, the circuit court erred in dismissing her counterclaims and striking her affirmative defenses for an ostensible failure to prosecute or comply with an order.

U.S. Bank's motion and the circuit court's decision were based on conduct that, while regrettable, did not constitute failure to prosecute. (Appx. pp. 145-46, p. 162 ln. 6-11, p. 162 ln. 19 – p. 163 ln. 9, p. 164 ln. 15-21.) Black's Law Dictionary defines "prosecute" as "[t]o commence and carry out a legal action[.]" Black's Law Dictionary 566 (2d pocket ed 2001). The leading recent South Carolina reported case analyzing a dismissal for failure to prosecute, McComas v. Ross, dealt with a situation in which the plaintiff in that case did not show up on time at the courtroom for the trial. 368 S.C. at 60-61. That is the sort of conduct that would trigger an analysis of whether a failure to prosecute has occurred, and then an analysis of whether that failure to prosecute warrants dismissal. Cf. id. at 60-64.

Older South Carolina cases concerning dismissals for failure to prosecute also deal most often with failure of a plaintiff to attend trial. See Small v. Mungo, 254 S.C. 438, 175 S.E.2d 802 (1970) (dismissal for failure to prosecute affirmed where plaintiff and counsel did not appear when case called for trial); Bond v. Corbin, 68 S.C. 294, 47 S.E. 374 (1904) (dismissal for failure to prosecute affirmed where plaintiff did not show up for trial at pre-set time and date and still failed to attend after two continuances given so that he could get to trial). One case deals with a dismissal for failure to prosecute where the plaintiff repeatedly failed to meet procedural requirements of the "Summons (Complaint Not Served)" procedure, which no longer exists. Don Shevey & Spires, Inc. v. American Motors Realty Corp., 279 S.C. 58, 301 S.E.2d 757 (1983). Other cases deal with dismissals for something that is not strictly failure to prosecute but is a

bit different, the failure to comply with court orders. See Orlando v. Boyd, 320 S.C. 509, 466 S.E.2d 353 (1996) (reversal of exclusion of expert witness for failure to comply with order and following grant of summary judgment based on inability to offer expert testimony because of exclusion); Georganne Apparel, Inc. v. Todd, 303 S.C. 87, 399 S.E.2d 16 (Ct. App. 1990) (affirmation of dismissal for failure to comply with conditions of order); Therens v. Faircloth, 291 S.C. 451, 354 S.E.2d 54 (Ct. App. 1987) (affirmation of dismissal for failure to comply with conditions of order in prior case).

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