RECEIVED

MAY 11 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
George C. James, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001554
Common Pleas Case No.: 2010-CP-28-01197

US Bank National Association Successor
Trustee to LaSalle Bank National Association,
as Trustee under the Pooling and Servicing
Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2002, among
Asset Backed Funding Corporation, Litton Loan
Servicing LP and LaSalle Bank National Association,
ABFC Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2002-SB-1.....Respondent,

v.

Kelley Burr, FIA Card Services, N.A., Discovery
Bank, Issuer of the Discover Card, Unifund CCR

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

ARGUMENT

Because the lower courts were correct to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and strike her affirmative defenses, this Court should affirm the dismissal. This Court may affirm the dismissal upon any ground appearing in the record. Rule 220(c), SCACR; I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). There are several grounds, each of which alone is sufficient, to affirm the dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses in this matter.

First, the circuit court and Court of Appeals were correct to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses as moot because Petitioner received the loan modification evaluation which she sought and, therefore, a judgment in her favor would have no practical effect on the

controversy.

Next, it was apparent on the face of the pleadings that Petitioner had not provided the financial documents requested by U.S. Bank necessary to evaluate her for a HAMP loan modification and, therefore, dismissal of her counterclaims and defenses, each of which was based solely on U.S. Bank's alleged failure to complete the HAMP evaluation, was appropriate pursuant to Rules 12(c) and 12(f), SCRCF. It was likewise apparent that Petitioner's failure to provide the necessary documents continued after the foreclosure action began and that Petitioner failed to respond to the loan modification offer she ultimately received and, therefore, the Court of Appeals' reliance on Rule 56(c) to affirm the dismissal of Petitioner's claims and defenses was also proper.

Finally, the circuit court also correctly dismissed Petitioner's counterclaims based on failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b), SCRCF, because Petitioner failed to take any action to pursue her counterclaims for nearly two years while she continued to ignore U.S. Bank's requests for financial documents to complete her modification evaluation or U.S. Bank's ultimate offer of a loan modification. This Court should affirm for all, or any, of these reasons.

I. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court's decision to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses as moot.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses based on mootness, which alone is sufficient to dispose of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses against U.S. Bank. (App'x pp. 1-3.) Petitioner incorrectly argues the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court's dismissal based on the mootness doctrine because U.S. Bank failed to plead mootness and further argues there is no factual support in the record on which to base this decision. (Brief 22-30.) However, U.S. Bank was not required to plead mootness and the record factually supports dismissal based on

mootness. Accordingly, the dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses as moot should be affirmed.

A. U.S. Bank was not required to plead mootness.

Petitioner erroneously argues U.S. Bank was required to plead mootness in order for the lower courts to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses as moot. However, it is a basic principle of Article III that "a judicial case or controversy must remain 'extant at all stages of review, not merely at the time the complaint is filed.'" United States v. Juvenile Male, 564 U.S. 932, 936, 131 S. Ct. 2860, 2864 (2011) (internal citations omitted). A lack of a justiciable controversy means that any moot claims are insufficient as a matter of law. Holden v. Cribb, 349 S.C. 132, 135, 137–38, 561 S.E.2d 634, 636–38 (Ct. App. 2002). Justiciability, whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy, is a threshold inquiry for any court. Id. at 137, 561 S.E.2d at 637 (quoting Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 415, 498 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996)). The concept of justiciability encompasses ripeness, mootness, and standing. Holden, 349 S.C. at 137, 561 S.E.2d at 637 (citing Jackson v. State, 331 S.C. 486, 490 n.2, 489 S.E.2d 915, 917 n.2 (1997)). To satisfy the Article III case or controversy requirement, a litigant must have suffered some "actual injury that can be redressed by a favorable judicial decision." Iron Arrow Honor Soc'y v. Heckler, 464 U.S. 67, 70, 104 S. Ct. 373, 375 (1983). "A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [the] existing controversy." Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 567, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001) (citing Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973)). Accordingly, a claim must be dismissed as moot "when the claimant receives the relief he or she sought to obtain through the claim." Friedman's, Inc., 290 F.3d at 197 (citing Broughton v. North Carolina, 717 F.2d 147, 149 (4th Cir. 1983)).

The Constitution commands that the court determine whether an Article III case or controversy is before it regardless of whether the issue has been properly raised by the parties. U.S. Const. art. III, § 2; Carolina Alliance for Fair Emp't v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct. App. 1999). Thus, U.S. Bank was not required to plead mootness as a defense or argue that the pleadings failed to state a claim for that reason because mootness, as a threshold issue, may be raised *sua sponte*. See Friedman's, 290 F.3d at 197 (holding the issue of mootness may be raised *sua sponte*).

B. There are sufficient facts in the record on which the lower courts correctly based their decision to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses for mootness.

Petitioner next argues that the factual record is insufficient to support dismissal of her counterclaims and defenses as moot. The record contains sufficient facts upon which the lower courts could properly base their decision to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses as moot. Each of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses is premised on U.S. Bank's failure to evaluate her for a HAMP loan modification (App'x pp. 111–12, 115.) The record, however, is replete with evidence that U.S. Bank did in fact offer Petitioner this opportunity before the foreclosure action began and later through the foreclosure intervention process mandated by the Administrative Order. (See App'x pp. 104, 126–31, 133–34, 137–39, 141–42, 154–61, 164–65.) The pleadings themselves demonstrate that Petitioner admittedly failed to provide the documents necessary for U.S. Bank to complete the HAMP modification evaluation she sought in her counterclaims and defenses. Moreover, despite Petitioner's repeated unresponsiveness and failures to provide U.S. Bank with the requested documentation which continued after the foreclosure action began, U.S. Bank sent Petitioner a modification proposal by mail and email on January 10, 2012. (App'x pp. 128, 158.) Neither Petitioner nor her counsel ever responded. (App'x pp. 128–29.) These facts are reflected in the Certificate of Mortgagor Noncompliance

(App'x 133-35); Motion (App'x pp. 126-31); the emails attached to the Motion (App'x pp. 132-41); statements made to the circuit court by U.S. Bank's prior counsel, Carmen Thomas ("Ms. Thomas"); and Petitioner's counsel during the September 13, 2012, hearing on the motion (App'x pp. 154-60, 164-65). Thus, Petitioner received the exact relief she sought – an evaluation for a loan modification. As a result, the Court's preservation of Petitioner's counterclaims would have no practical effect on the existing controversy. See Friedman's, Inc., 290 F.3d at 197 (noting that the case is moot where petitioner receives precisely the same relief requested in action).

Petitioner argues that the aforementioned evidence merely reflects "arguments" of U.S. Bank's counsel, which is allegedly insufficient to demonstrate that U.S. Bank evaluated and offered Petitioner a loan modification. (Brief 29-30.) U.S. Bank's statements through its counsel, however, are exactly the type of factual showing intended to verify noncompliance under the Administrative Order. The Administrative Order specifically requires that the mortgagee's attorney "certify" to the Court whether the mortgagor failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in the foreclosure intervention process. In re Mortgage Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. at 212-13, 720 S.E.2d at 910. Pursuant to the Administrative Order, by filing the Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance and proceeding with the foreclosure action, Ms. Thomas properly "represent[ed] to the Court that the Mortgagee has fully complied with all provisions of this Order" and certified that Petitioner "failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate." Id. The Motion and Certification of Mortgagor Noncompliance, which were properly submitted, signed by Ms. Thomas, and carried the weight and reliability of Rule 11, SCRCF, are more than sufficient under the Administrative Order to demonstrate to the Court that Petitioner failed to provide the requested financial information and subsequently failed to

respond to U.S. Bank's modification proposal. (App'x pp. 126–31.) Indeed, Petitioner's counsel admitted during the September 13, 2012, hearing that he did not doubt the veracity of Ms. Thomas's statements and that Petitioner did receive "settlement negotiations" from U.S. Bank. (App'x pp. 164, 168.) Thus, there are more than enough facts in the record, including Petitioner's own concessions, to demonstrate that Petitioner already received the same relief requested in her Answer and Counterclaims, which renders her counterclaims and defenses moot. Curtis, 345 S.C. at 567, 549 S.E.2d at 596; Friedman's, Inc., 290 F.3d at 197. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower courts' dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses based on the mootness doctrine.

C. The HAMP loan modification program, the sole basis for Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses, has now expired.

The recent expiration of the HAMP program is an additional ground upon which this Court may affirm dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses. In reviewing Petitioner's appeal, "the Court is bound to consider any change, either in fact or in law, which has supervened since the judgment was entered." Patterson v. State of Alabama, 294 U.S. 600, 607, 55 S. Ct. 575, 578 (1935). Petitioner acknowledges in her own Brief that a subsequent change in the law or facts can render a claim moot. (Brief 23 (referencing Occupy Columbia v. Haley, 922 F. Supp. 2d 524, 530 (D.S.C.), aff'd, 738 F.3d 107 (4th Cir. 2013).) Here, HAMP expired by its own terms on December 31, 2016, and new applications for loan modifications are no longer accepted.² Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2016, Pub. L. No. 114-113, 129 Stat. 2242, div. O, tit. 7, sec. 709(b) (2015).

² U.S. Bank was unable to raise this argument in previous briefs because the HAMP expiration of December 31, 2016, had not yet taken place. However, mootness may be raised at any time, Arizonans for Official English v. Arizona, 520 U.S. 43, 68 n.23 (1997), and the Court must consider any change, either in fact or law, in the event that the change moots the justiciable controversy. Patterson, 294 U.S. at 607, 55 S. Ct. at 578.

Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses were based entirely on a purported failure to evaluate her loan for a HAMP modification. (App'x pp. 110–12, 115.) Petitioner admittedly failed, however, to submit the documents necessary to enable U.S. Bank to evaluate Petitioner for a HAMP modification while the HAMP program was in effect. (App'x pp. 111, 155.) As a result of the program's expiration on December 31, 2016, it is now impossible for any court to render a judgment requiring a HAMP evaluation in this matter. Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2016, div. O, tit. 7, sec. 709(b); see Friedman's, Inc., 290 F.3d at 197 (noting that when circumstances change from the time the suit is filed "so that the appellate court can no longer serve the intended harm-preventing function or has no effective relief to offer," the controversy must be dismissed as moot). Given that HAMP's intervening expiration has made it impossible for this Court to grant effectual relief for Petitioner, her counterclaims and defenses fail to raise an actual, justiciable controversy and are properly dismissed as moot. Curtis, 345 S.C. at 567, 549 S.E.2d at 596.

II. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court's decision to dismiss Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses pursuant to Rule 12(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

While mootness is sufficient to dismiss both Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses entirely, the Court of Appeals also relied on a second ground in affirming the circuit court's dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses. Specifically, "[b]efore and after U.S. Bank's foreclosure action, Burr did not provide the documents requested by U.S. Bank, which made U.S. Bank unable to complete the loan modification offered to Burr." (App'x p. 2) (emphasis added). Petitioner incorrectly argues that the Court of Appeals made this determination without relying on any rule, statute, or other law that permits dismissal of her defenses. (Brief 30–31.) Petitioner further argues that the Court of Appeals improperly

converted U.S. Bank's motion into one for summary judgment in reaching this conclusion. (Brief 16–19.) Petitioner is mistaken on both accounts, and this Court may affirm the dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses pursuant to Rule 12(c), Rule 12(f), and/or Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

A. Petitioner admits in the pleadings she failed to provide the documents requested by U.S. Bank needed for a HAMP modification evaluation and, therefore, her counterclaims and defenses based on U.S. Bank's alleged failure to evaluate her for a HAMP modification were properly dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

With respect to Petitioner's conduct before the initiation of U.S. Bank's foreclosure action on October 29, 2010, sufficient facts in the pleadings support dismissal of Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses pursuant to Rule 12(c). Motions for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c) will be sustained if the pleadings are so defective that taking all the facts alleged in the pleadings as admitted, no cause of action or defense is stated. Lydia v. Horton, 343 S.C. 376, 380, 540 S.E.2d 102, 105 (Ct. App. 2000), rev'd on other grounds, 355 S.C. 36, 583 S.E.2d 750 (2003). "The Rule 12(c) motion admits the well pleaded facts in the complaint and the court must take those well pleaded factual allegations as true." Fireman's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 236, 394 S.E.2d 855, 856 (Ct. App. 1990).

By Petitioner's own admissions, the "pleadings" in this case consist of the Complaint, Answer and Counterclaims, and reply to the counterclaims. Rule 7(a), SCRCF. (Brief 25.) Limiting the Court's review to these documents, sufficient evidence demonstrates that Petitioner's counterclaims and defenses are defective and subject to dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(c). As stated in the Complaint, prior to its initiation of the foreclosure action, U.S. Bank attempted to engage in the evaluation process required by HAMP, but Petitioner "did not provide all necessary documents after those documents had been requested." (App'x p. 104.) Petitioner's Answer and Counterclaims confirmed this noncompliance, admitting that Petitioner

failed to provide U.S. Bank with all of the requested documents, including certain income statements. (App’x p. 111.) Given that the pleadings demonstrate Petitioner’s failure to provide the requested documents necessary to evaluate her loan for a HAMP modification, the lower courts properly relied on Rule 12(c) in dismissing Petitioner’s counterclaims and defenses which are based solely on U.S. Bank’s purported failure to complete the HAMP evaluation.

B. To the extent the Court of Appeals treated a portion of the circuit court’s order as a grant of summary judgment, such conversion was either proper or harmless error.

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